

## Watertown Middle School

68 Waverley Avenue Watertown, Massachusetts 02472-3492 Phone: 617-926-7783 Fax: 617-926-5407

Jennifer Chen Fein Principal Susan Carle Assistant Principal Jennifer Sarmiento Assistant Principal

### **Summary of WMS Family Handbook Updates 2023-2024**

### Welcome to Watertown Middle School!

Dear Watertown Middle School Community,

Welcome to the 2023-2024 school year at Watertown Middle School Middle school is an exciting and challenging time in a child's development. The middle school years are among the most exciting, and sometimes tumultuous, times for young learners. We believe that all students are capable of high levels of learning and achievement and that it is our collective responsibility to support individual students in order for them to reach their full potential.

We have been working diligently over the summer to prepare for the upcoming year and ensure it is a successful one for all. Please take some time to read the handbook over with your child(ren) as it contains a great deal of helpful information. Although much of it is filled with procedures and policies, I hope you see that much of it revolves around the SOAR principles: Service, Ownership, Achievement, and Respect. SOAR like a Watertown Middle School Eagle, until you spread your wings, you have no idea how far you can fly!

One critical ingredient for success is communication between home and school. We must partner together to focus on the well-being and education of the children of Watertown Middle School. This guide is provided to help the middle school community better understand the policies of WMS. We ask parents/caregivers and students to review and discuss the information in this guide together now, as well as use it as a resource throughout the year. Please reach out to us with any questions or concerns, and we will do the same. If you are not sure who to call, please see the Communication chart on pp. 45. With consistent collaboration, we will be able to ensure that all students feel safe, supported, and prepared for learning.

I am looking forward to working with students, faculty, staff, parents/caregivers, and the Watertown community throughout the school year on academics, social/emotional learning, extracurricular activities, and community service.

Respectfully,

Jennifer Chen Fein, Principal Susan Carle, Assistant Principal (Clusters 1, 3, 5) Jennifer Sarmiento, Assistant Principal (Clusters 2, 4, 6)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Welcome to Watertown Middle School!	0
TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
LANGUAGE SUPPORT	4
WATERTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS INFORMATION	4
District Mission	5
District Vision	5
Core Values	5
Resolution on Affirmation of Support for Staff, Students,	5
and Community Members of Color	
Transgender and Gender Nonconforming School Committee Policy	
School Committee	6
WATERTOWN MIDDLE SCHOOL INFORMATION	7
School Description	7
School Mission	8
School Core Values	8
Nondiscrimination	8
CONTACT INFORMATION	8
Changes in Emergency Contact Information	9
Emergency Situations	9
Visitors	9
Bus Transportation	10
Eligibility and Schedule	10
Bus Safety and Expectations	10
Items Left on Buses	10
THE SCHOOL DAY	10
WMS Start of School	11
Beginning the School Day	11
Class Schedules	11
Breakfast/Lunch	12
End of School	12
Bell Schedule	13
ACADEMICS	13
Grading and Report Cards	13
Promotion Requirements	14
Academic Skills and Content Achievement	14
Caregiver Conferences	15
Progress Reports	15

Open House	15
Clusters	15
Advisory	16
Specials	16
Physical Education	16
WIN	16
Community Service	16
Homework	17
Effective Home Study Habits	18
Healthy Technology Tips and Habits for Middle School Students	18
TEXTBOOKS, COMPUTERS, and OTHER BORROWED MATERIAL	S 19
1:1 Chromebook Program	19
Extra Help	19
Access to Library	20
GUIDANCE AND STUDENT SUPPORT	20
Standardized Testing	20
Vocational and Private School Applications	21
SPECIALIZED SERVICES & PROGRAMMING	21
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973	21
Special Education Services	22
Inclusion/Academic Resource Classes	23
Language-Based Instruction	23
Learning Support Classroom (LSP)	23
Integrated Services Program (ISP)	23
Connections Program	24
Alternative Education: Home and Hospital Instruction	24
English Learners	24
ATTENDANCE PROCEDURES	24
<u>Tardiness</u>	25
Absences	25
Dismissal	26
Snow Days and Delayed Openings	27
Professional Development Days	
Field Trips	2.5
BEHAVIOR PROCEDURES	
Watertown Middle School Recipe for Success	
Code of Conduct	
Prevention	29

Restorative Justice	29
Celebrating Success	30
Behavior Interventions	30
Bullying Prevention and Response	30
Substance Abuse	32
Consequences for Disciplinary Infractions	33
Denial of Transportation	34
Student ID	2.4
Hall Passes	34
Lockers	34
Personal Electronic Devices and Cell Phones	35
Bicycles, Skateboards, Scooters, etc.	35
Cafeteria	35
Conduct on Buses, Field Trips, and Events	36
Nonviolent Physical Crisis Intervention / Physical Restraint	36
Student Dress Code	36
HEALTH PROCEDURES	37
School Health Services	37
Illness or Injury	37
Medications	38
Emergency Illness or Injury protocol	38
Watertown Concussion Procedures	38
When to Keep Your Child Home	39
COMMUNICATION GUIDELINES	40
Classroom Concerns	40
Anonymous Calls or Complaints	40
Communication Chart	40

### GENERAL INFORMATION

#### LANGUAGE SUPPORT

#### **Language Assistance Services**

ATTENTION: If you speak a language other than English, language assistance services are available to you free of charge. **Contact your child's school for assistance.** 

Spanish: ATENCION: Si usted habla un idioma que no sea el inglés, hay servicios de asistencia lingüística disponibles gratis. **Contacte la escuela de su hijo para asistencia.** 

Portuguese: ATENÇÃO: Se fala um idioma diferente do Inglês, os serviços de assistência linguística estão disponíveis gratuitamente para si. Entre em contato com a escola do seu filho para obter assistência.

Russian: ВНИМАНИЕ: Если вы не говорите на английском языке, для вас доступны бесплатные языковые сервисы на вашем языке. Обратитесь за помощью в школу, в которой учится ваш ребенок.

Haitian Creole: ATANSYON: Si ou pale yon lòt lang ke lang Anglè, sèvis asistans lang yo disponib pou ou gratis. Kontakte lekòl timoun ou an pou kapab jwenn asistans.

Cape Verdean: ATENSON: Si bu ta fala un língua diferenti di Ingles, Servísus di Apoiu Linguístiku stá disponível sen kustus. Kontakta skóla di bu fidju pa dá-bu apoiu.

Thai: โปรดทราบ:หากท**่านพ**ูดภาษาอ**ื่นใดนอกเหน**ือจากภาษาองั กฤษท**่านสามารถใช**้บร**ิการความช**่วยเหล**ือด**้านภาษาโดยไม**่ต องเสียค่าใช้จ่ายแต่อย่างใด** ติดต่อโรงเรียนของบุตรของท่านเพื่อขอความช่วยเหลือ

انتباه: إن كنتم تتحدثون بلغة أخرى غير الإنجليزية، فإن خدمات الساعدة اللغوية متوفرة بشكل مجاني. نواصلوا مع مدرسة طفلكم من من إجلطك

ՈՒՇԱԴՐՈՒԹՅՈՒՆ. Եթե դուք խոսում եք անգլերենից բացի այլ լեզու, լեզվական օգնության ծառայություններ կան ձեզ անվճար։ Օգնության համար դիմեք ձեր երեխայի դպրոցին։ Armenian

توجہ:Pashtu کہ ستاسومورنۍ ژبه انګریزۍ نه وی نو ژبه کښی دهٔ مرستی خدمات تاسو ته مفت ملاویدې شې ـ.دهٔ مدد دهٔ پاره خپل بچی سکول سره رابطه اوکی. مذنه

توجہ: Urdu اگر آپ انگریزی کے علاوہ کوئی دوسری زبان بولتے ہیں تو، زبان کی امداد کی خدمات دستیاب ہیں۔ آپ بلا معاوضہ مدد کی حصول کے لئیے اپنے بچّے کے اسکول سے رابطہ رکھیں۔ شکریہ

### WATERTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS INFORMATION

#### **District Mission**

WPS prepares all students for life by engaging them in a challenging and meaningful education within an inclusive, diverse community.

#### **District Vision**

### Inspiring Excellence for All

WPS inspires all to explore and shape the world around them.

#### **Core Values**

#### Excellence

- We commit to high expectations for each student.
- We invest in a culture of reflection, collaboration, and commitment to continuous improvement.
- We provide a rigorous and nurturing academic environment.
- We foster creativity, resiliency, and confidence.

### Equity

- We provide all students with a high-quality education.
- We create conditions necessary for all students to engage in powerful, deep learning.
- We provide resources for academic and social/emotional success for all students.
- We ensure access to a welcoming and safe environment for all students, parents, and families.

#### Community

- We share accountability for the success of all students.
- We celebrate the contributions of each individual to our inclusive, diverse community.
- We believe partnerships with families and the community are the cornerstone of student success.
- We foster caring and collaborative relationships as the foundation for student engagement.

### Resolution on Affirmation of Support for Staff, Students,

### and Community Members of Color

Whereas, People of Color face greater discrimination, structural discipline, lack of social support both in schools and in society at large;

Whereas, children, adolescents and adults in the Black community face higher rates of social and structural violence and racial discrimination,

Whereas, students' and staff's well-being is a fundamental concern of the Watertown School Committee and school boards across the country.

Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the Watertown School Committee affirms its immediate support to promote the needs and safety of all staff and students who identify as a person of color, And Be It Resolved that the School Committee of Watertown, Massachusetts urges state and

federal policymakers to support laws and regulations that:

Provide appropriate and necessary safety measures for People of Color during a period of unrest in this nation, and guarantee the rights and safety of all those protesting for their lives. Hold accountable all public officials, police officers, and all those who serve their community for their responsibility to equitably represent and protect the public, and also hold accountable any individuals and organizations that take racist actions or in any other way do harm to the Black Community and People of Color.

Enhance programming to provide schools with the structure and guidance needed to provide an anti-racist curricula and professional development for all staff to build understanding and awareness of the beautiful history and the challenges of being a person of color, and of the structural and endemic racism in the United States.

### **Transgender and Gender Nonconforming School Committee Policy**

The School Committee gives its support to responsible civic actions by students, educators and others who are raising the visibility of this issue and seeking changes in public policy. It is our policy to protect all students from discrimination and bullying, including on the basis of gender identity and expression. To this end, the school district shall implement ongoing professional development to build an understanding of gender identity and expression and to equip all staff members in identifying, responding to, and ultimately preventing bullying, harassment, and discrimination on the basis of gender identity and expression. Staff shall seek to include gender diverse voices in curriculum/when planning curricula.

Information about a student's transgender status, legal name, or gender assigned at birth may constitute confidential medical information. Disclosing this information to other students, their parents, or other third parties may violate privacy laws, such as the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). The fact that a student chooses to disclose his or her transgender status to staff or other students does not authorize school staff to disclose other medical information about the student.

Schools may maintain separate restrooms, locker rooms or changing facilities for male and female students, provided that they allow students to access them based on their gender identity. The school shall respond to student requests to change their preferred locker room at any time during the school year. Students uncomfortable with a specified gender space shall be given access to a safe non-gendered changing area.

Every student has the right to be addressed by a name and pronouns that correspond to the student's gender identity. Regardless of whether a transgender or gender nonconforming student has legally changed their name or gender, schools will allow such students to use a chosen name and gender pronouns that reflect their identity. (GLSEN).

Watertown is committed to providing ongoing professional development, support and education for all staff members around transgender/gender non-conforming students and to providing a safe environment for all students of all gender identities.

#### **School Committee**

The Watertown School Committee establishes goals, policies, and the budget for the Watertown Public Schools. The School Committee hires the Superintendent and works closely with that individual in developing policies and practices to improve the school system.

The School Committee also is responsible for conducting collective bargaining with all employee organizations and has other responsibilities as outlined by Massachusetts General Laws.

The School Committee consists of seven members. Six are elected on a town-wide basis for four-year terms. The Town Council President serves as the seventh member and is elected to a two-year term. In January of each year the School Committee elects a chair, vice-chair, and secretary from among its members. The School Committee also organizes itself into subcommittees to conduct its business.

School Committee Members (as of June 2022):

- Kendra Foley, Chair
- Lindsay Mosca, Vice-Chair
- Amy Donohue, Secretary
- Jessica Middlebrook
- Lily Rayman-Read
- David Stokes
- Mark Sideris, City Council President

### WATERTOWN MIDDLE SCHOOL INFORMATION

### **School Description**

Watertown Middle School, Watertown's sole public middle school, provides educational programming and services for all sixth, seventh, and eighth-grade students living in Watertown. Programming includes instruction in the core subjects of English, mathematics, science, social studies, reading, and world language (Arabic, Italian, or Spanish). Additionally, every year students receive instruction in Physical Education, Health, Tech. Engineering, Art, and Music or Drama. Finally, Watertown Middle School provides a wide range of academic support and enrichment opportunities for all students, including the arts, engineering, sports, and service learning during and after school hours. Curriculum and instruction are based on Massachusetts state standards.

Watertown Middle School is a caring and inclusive community where many professionals provide support services for children. Students are organized in grade-level clusters with everyday common planning time to ensure that no one "falls through the cracks." Much of the programming in advisory blocks and within the content areas focuses on social-emotional learning and global citizenship. Finally, there are many whole-school events – academic, community service, community outreach, social, and recreational – that help form a close-knit community and give students a sense of belonging.

#### **School Mission**

Watertown Middle School, in partnership with the community and family, will provide a supportive and challenging learning environment where every student feels safe, respected, and valued. As a place for transition, the Middle School will nurture the development of self-esteem and the unique emotional, social, ethical, and academic growth of each student.

#### **School Core Values**

S: Service
O: Ownership
A: Achievement
R: Respect

#### **Nondiscrimination**

No student shall be discriminated against on the basis of race, color, gender, gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, age or disability as required by state and federal law in the administration of its educational policies, admission policies, or athletic and other school administered programs.

### **CONTACT INFORMATION**

**Principal:** Ms. Jennifer Chen Fein

Assistant Principal (Clusters 1, 3, 5): Ms. Susan Carle

Assistant Principal (Clusters 2, 4, 6): Ms. Jennifer Sarmiento

Address: 68 Waverley Avenue, Watertown, MA 02472 Main Office Telephone Number: 617-926-7783

Main Office Fax Number: 617-926-5407

Watertown Public Schools Website: www.watertown.k12.ma.us

**Hotline for absentee notification:** 617-926-7783

Call before 7:30 a.m. if your child will be absent that day.

School is in session from 7:45a.m. - 2:15p.m.

(Doors open at 7:30. Students should arrive by 7:35 to prepare for the day.)

**School Nurse:** Ms. Lisa Gallagher, RN Direct: 617-926-7783 Fax: 617-924-4125

#### **Guidance:**

Gr 6: Mr. Thomas Cloherty 617-926-7783 x35103 Gr 7: Ms. Jody Gladstein 617-926-7783 x35105 Gr 8: Ms. Amanda Skypeck 617-926-7783 x35116

### **Changes in Emergency Contact Information**

Please notify the main office immediately whenever there is any change in your child's emergency contact information. This includes:

- Change of address (requires two proofs of residence at new address)
- Change of home phone number/email
- Change in parent/caregiver work or cell phone number
- Changes in emergency contact person and/or phone number
- Change in parent's email address
- Change in custody (requires copy of court order)

After alerting the main office to any changes listed above, you can go into the PowerSchool Parent Portal and make the edits there. We use this information to release your child and in the event of an evacuation or crisis. If you need help with this process, please contact the main office.

### **Emergency Situations**

In an emergency, we will attempt to contact parents/caregivers and then people on a child's emergency contact list. It is very important that you fill out your child's emergency contact list as thoroughly as possible. It is also important to keep contact lists updated at all times. If you need to make a change, contact the main office and make the appropriate changes to your PowerSchool Parent Portal account. We will not dismiss students to people not listed as an emergency contact.

Parents/caregivers should develop a contingency plan in the event of an unscheduled early dismissal in which case no parent might be at home. An example might be having your child go to the home of a relative or neighbor.

#### **Visitors**

To ensure the security of our students, staff and operations of Watertown Public Schools, the following visitation guidelines will be followed in all school buildings:

All visitors are required to follow the below guidelines when entering a school building:

- 1. Upon arrival, all visitors must:
  - **a.** Enter through the main entrance.
  - **b.** State their purpose.
  - **c.** Register with the door monitor at the front desk in the lobby or in the main office.
    - **d.** Sign in before proceeding to any other part of the building
- **2.** All visitors must have a visible "Visitor" Identification Badge with them at all times during their stay.
  - 3. All those coming to pick up students must present valid photo identification.
  - **4.** All visitors must comply with building based visitation hours.
- 5. All contractors who are working in the building must also meet with a building custodian and sign in before proceeding to destination.

- **6.** All those wishing to observe or visit a classroom must make an appointment with building personnel at least two days prior.
- 7. At the end of the visit, all visitors must report back to the door monitor or main office to sign out, return the badge and directly exit the building.

The principal or his/her designee reserves the right to deny any visitors entry to the school buildings when there is reason to believe that such an individual's presence would be detrimental to the operation of the school and its learning environment.

### **Bus Transportation**

Students may take the bus to school only if a parent/caregiver has signed up and paid for a bus pass at the Central Office. Only those students who have a bus pass will be permitted to board the bus. For questions about the bus, contact the Central Office at 617-926-7716 or check the <a href="mailto:transportation/bus registration link">transportation/bus registration link</a> on the WPS website and the <a href="https://www.wps.upen.com/wps.up

### Eligibility and Schedule

There is no fee for Middle School or High School Students who live .75 miles or more from the Middle School during the Watertown High School Construction. Students will be informed of bus stop pick-up when the bus pass is issued.

### **Bus Safety and Expectations**

All disciplinary policies apply to the students riding the bus since the bus is an extension of school. The safety of our students is the top priority. If students are misbehaving and compromising the safety of the bus, either on or off of the bus, all school disciplinary measures will apply, including potential removal from riding the bus. For additional information regarding student conduct on school buses, please refer to School Committee Policy JICC which can be found in the Policy Manual at <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">www.watertown.k12.ma.us</a>. <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">Policy Manual</a>

#### **Items Left on Buses**

The school is not responsible for any students left on a school bus. Students should make sure they have all their belongings while on the bus and before exiting the bus. Any items left behind may be found by the driver at the end of their designated run. Parents can contact the bus company, LocalMotion, at 781-535-6344 regarding items left on a school bus.

### THE SCHOOL DAY

Addendum: We are entering into a transitional phase of the journey to a new high school for Watertown. Watertown High School now consists of three locations that make up one campus: PFC Moxely Field (herein referred to as "Moxley"), the Middle School garden level (herein referred to as "WMS garden level"), and the Watertown Boys and Girls Club. Most academic courses meet in Moxley. CTE courses meet in the WMS garden Level. PE Courses meet at the Boys and Girls Club.

HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS ARE NOT PERMITTED TO ENTER ANY PART OF THE MIDDLE SCHOOL GROUNDS OUTSIDE OF THOSE IDENTIFIED FOR WHS STUDENTS, UNLESS ESCORTED BY STAFF. VIOLATION OF THIS POLICY IS CONSIDERED A SUSPENDABLE OFFENSE AS DESCRIBED BY THE WHS STUDENT CODE OF CONDUCT. HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS ARE EXPECTED TO AVOID CONTACT WITH ANY MIDDLE SCHOOL STUDENTS DURING THE SCHOOL DAY.

#### WMS Start of School

- Due to the new start time of school, there will not be WMS morning programming.
- At 7:30AM students may enter the school from either the Waverley Avenue or Bemis Street entrances. Students should plan to be at school by 7:35 AM each day to be prepared for the day which begins at 7:45AM.
- If you are driving your child to school, Please consider the safety of our children who are walking nearby. DROP STUDENTS OFF ON BEMIS ST. ONLY. Please do not block traffic, and pull your car clear of others before pulling away. To avoid traffic tie-ups, consider dropping your child off a block away and letting them walk the rest of the way.
- Our School Resource Officer supervises drop off and pick up. Any traffic violations are subject to ticketing, etc.
- All students should adhere to pedestrian laws and cross on the crosswalks.

### **Beginning the School Day**

- All students must be in their advisory by 7:45AM or they will be marked tardy. (see pg. 18).
- During the first five minutes of the first period, students will have the opportunity to say the pledge of allegiance, hear the day's announcements, connect with their advisory members, and get organized for their day.

#### **Class Schedules**

- Each grade is split into two clusters, and students in each cluster attend core cluster classes together. The 6<sup>th</sup> grade has clusters 1 and 2, the 7<sup>th</sup> grade clusters 3 and 4, and the 8<sup>th</sup> grade clusters 5 and 6. Students are reassigned to clusters each year.
- Classes are typically 42 minutes long, with one long block each week that is 57 minutes long.
- Students take their core classes of English Language Arts, Math, Science, and Social Studies with students in their cluster.
- Students also take classes in a World Language (Spanish, Arabic, or Italian) or Reading, and Specials (A trimester rotation of Music/Drama, Art, Technology Education, Physical Education, and Health). Students take these classes with students in their grade.
- Students have an Advisory for 20 minutes 4 days a week. This time is intended to give students an explicit time and place to develop social emotional behaviors, develop a sense of community at WMS, and to foster a trusting relationship with an adult staff member.

• Students have a support and enrichment period each day, entitled "WIN" (What I Need). During this period, students participate in a targeted intervention, Special Education support, ESL support, enrichment, or a performance music ensemble. These music ensembles include Band/Percussion, Chorus and Orchestra. WIN will alternate between A/B days. WIN placements will be made early in the school year, and are subject to change at predictable intervals throughout the school year. On Fridays this period will be used as a flex period to support equitable opportunities for students to access curriculum and reassess their knowledge of standards and skills mastery.

#### Breakfast/Lunch

- The Middle School provides a free grab n' go breakfast in the cafeteria, on the way to advisory.
- The Middle School has three lunch periods each day, one per grade. Lunch is free and 30 minutes.
- Students can bring lunch from home or receive one at school.
- The cafeteria provides a nutritious menu that includes a variety of hot entrees prepared each day, sandwiches, salads, snacks, and drinks.
- All school meals are free to all Watertown students.

#### **End of School**

- School ends each day at 2:15PM. Students are dismissed and are required to leave the building unless they are involved in an after-school activity supervised by an adult. We encourage all students to take part in our after-school programs.
- Supervised activities include Library Learning Lab, extra work with a specific teacher, after school enrichment clubs, and Watertown Middle School athletic teams.
- Watertown Middle School offers a wide variety of seasonal sports. Please refer to the athletic section for more information.
- If you are picking up your child at the close of school, please consider the safety of our children who are walking nearby. PICK UP STUDENTS ON BEMIS ST. ONLY. Please do not block traffic, and pull your car clear of others before stopping. To avoid traffic tie-ups, consider picking up your child a block away from school at a pre-arranged spot.
- The late bus departs at 3:45PM to allow students to take part in after-school activities. There is no late bus on Fridays.
- Students who take the late bus must have a bus pass.
- If you are picking up your child after 2:15PM, please use Waverley Ave. entrance.
- Students are not permitted in the building after school without proper supervision.
- Please do not idle your car while waiting to pick up your child.

#### **Bell Schedule**

### Watertown Middle School

Bell Schedule 2023-2024

	Mon A	Tues B	Wed A	Thurs B	Fri A	Mon B	Tues A	Wed B	Thurs A	Fri B
ADVISORY 7:45-8:08 AM (Wed: 7:45-7:53am)										
Period 1 8:11-8:53 AM (Wed: 7:56-8:53am*)	Α	В	C*	D	E	A	В	C*	D	Е
<b>Period 2</b> 8:56-9:38 AM	В	С	D	E	F	В	С	D	E	F
<b>Period 3</b> 9:41-10:23 AM	С	D	Е	F	Α	С	D	E	F	Α
Period 4 & Lunch 10:26 AM-12:00 PM Lunch 1: 10:26-10:56 Lunch 2: 10:58-11:28 Lunch 3: 11:30-12:00	D	E	F	A	В	D	E	F	A	В
<b>Period 5</b> 12:03-12:45 PM	E	F	А	В	С	E	F	Α	В	С
<b>Period 6</b> 12:48-1:30 PM	F	Α	В	С	D	F	A	В	С	D
<b>WIN</b> 1:33-2:15 PM	WIN A	WIN B	WIN A	WIN B	FLEX	WIN B	WIN A	WIN B	WIN A	FLEX

Lunch Schedule	Grade 6	Grade 7	Grade 8
Trimester 1 (09/05/23-12/04/23)	Lunch 1	Lunch 3	Lunch 2
Trimester 2 (12/05/23-03/13/24)	Lunch 3	Lunch 2	Lunch 1
Trimester 3 (03/14/24-06/13/23)	Lunch 2	Lunch 1	Lunch 3

Specials Schedule	Grade 6	Grade 7	Grade 8
Block A (Red)		×	
Block B (Orange)			х
Block C (Yellow)	×		
Block D (Green)		×	
Block E (Blue)			х
Block F (Purple)	×		

#### **ACADEMICS**

### **Grading and Report Cards**

Grades are based on student's demonstrated understanding of subject matter. Circumstances may require that a student be graded on an individual basis. This will be agreed upon ahead of time for students with Individualized Educational Plans, 504 Plan or newly arrived ELs on an OSU basis (Outstanding, Satisfactory, Unsatisfactory).

**Report Cards:** Report cards are issued three times per year and will be posted on the *PowerSchool Parent Portal* on our website. Report cards will also be mailed home.

**Grades:** Grades are issued by letter (A-F), by number on a 100 point scale, or on an O (outstanding), S (satisfactory), or U (unsatisfactory) scale. In general, academic classes including specials are graded on an A-F scale, and WIN block is graded on an OSU scale. The following is a conversion table that equates letter grades with a 100 point scale:

A+	100 - 97	C+	79 - 77

A	93 - 96	С	76 - 73
A- B+	92 - 90 89 - 87	C-	72 - 70
B B-	86 - 83 82 - 80	D+	69 - 67
		D	66 - 63
		D-	62 - 60
		F	*50-59
		1	the lowest grade an be assigned

**Incomplete (INC)** is given when requirements for the term have not yet been completed. During the trimester, many teachers use this to indicate missing work that can and should be submitted by the student. An Incomplete indicates there was not enough evidence to assess student understanding of the standards for that class. Students may be given extra time to complete the missing work with teacher/principal approval. A grade is issued at the end of the time period using the information that the teacher has of the student's understanding of the standards.

### **Promotion Requirements**

It is our high expectation that all students will pass and thrive in all of their classes. In order to be promoted to the next grade, students must receive a passing grade in their math and ELA classes.

Students who do not pass both ELA and/or math are expected to attend summer school programming and pass the required coursework. Students who do not attend or pass summer school programming will be scheduled for intervention work during WIN the following school year or may be retained in the same grade for the next school year.

#### **Academic Skills and Content Achievement**

Watertown Middle School recognizes **Honor Roll Skills and Content Achievement:** In order to be on the Honor Roll for Achievement, a student will need to have a weighted average grade of an 87 on a 100-point scale (a low B+) in all of their classes. To be on the Honor Roll for High Achievement, a student will need to have a weighted average grade of a 92 on a 100 point scale (a high A-) in all of their classes. Classes that meet every other day are calculated with a 0.5 weighting.

Some classes grade students on an O (outstanding), S (satisfactory), and U (unsatisfactory) basis. If a student receives an Outstanding in that particular class, it will be averaged in as a 95. If a

student receives a Satisfactory, the S will not be averaged in the Honor roll Calculation, thus neither helping nor hurting a student in attaining achievement recognition.

**Honor Roll Academic Growth Recognition:** A student's academic growth is demonstrated by grade level skills and content development through formative and summative assessments over time, FLEX block retakes, applying standards based feedback, practicing self-regulation, utilizing progress trackers and self-assessment tools.

### **Caregiver Conferences**

We schedule two sets of student/parent/teacher conferences in the fall and the spring. These conferences, led in part by the students themselves, allow for them to reflect on their strengths, progress, and areas that need improvement. Parents, caregivers, and teachers discuss next steps and help plan for future goals. All students are expected to attend their conferences with their parents or caregivers.

Caregiver conferences can be scheduled at any time during the school year when cluster teachers have common planning time. If you would like to meet with your child's teachers at any time, please set up a conference through the Guidance Department

### **Progress Reports**

Progress report grades are issued by each of your child's teachers once each term. These grades and comments are useful tools that allow you to check your child's progress in acquiring the skills for meeting the standards in each subject, and focus on specific areas that need improvement. These reports will also be posted and available through the PowerSchool Parent Portal.

### **Open House**

In September, the Watertown Middle School hosts an Open House Night for parents and caregivers. The purpose of the Open House is for you to meet each of your child's teachers, and have them provide a brief explanation about what will be taught during the year. Parents and caregivers are strongly urged to attend this important event, as it will give you a first-hand opportunity to see what your child will be learning during the upcoming year. Open House is not intended for specific conversations with teachers regarding your child. As always, if you have concerns or questions about your child in school, please contact your child's teacher or guidance counselor.

#### **Clusters**

At Watertown Middle School, we follow the middle school model of having two clusters per grade, which helps students experience a closer sense of community within the school. All students in a cluster are taught by the same team of teachers: English, Social Studies, Math and Science. These core subject teachers are supported by Special Education teachers, teachers of English as a Supplementary Language, and the grade level guidance counselor. Cluster students are assigned to advisories run by their cluster teachers or another staff member. Clusters allow

Watertown Middle School students to be part of a small, more intimate group within the larger school. The teachers and advisors within a cluster are all located near each other, reducing student travel time between classes. Cluster teachers, along with the guidance counselor for the grade, meet regularly to discuss the progress of their students.

Grade 6	Clusters 1 & 2
Grade 7	Clusters 3 & 4
Grade 8	Clusters 5 & 6

### **Advisory**

Students have an Advisory for 20 minutes 4 days a week. This time is intended to give students an explicit time and place to develop social emotional behaviors, develop a sense of community at WMS, and to foster a trusting relationship with an adult staff member.

### **Specials**

While your child will have the core subjects every day, Specials follow an alternating day schedule. Specials include Art, Music/Drama, Technology Education, Physical Education and Health.

### **Physical Education**

Every student at Watertown Middle School will have physical education every other day for two of the three trimesters. Students are required to wear a WMS Physical Education t-shirt and other appropriate PE clothes such as athletic shorts, sweatpants, and sneakers. Please ensure that your child brings clean PE clothes to school on the days they have physical education. T-shirts can be purchased directly from the Physical Education Department.

#### **WIN**

Students have a support and enrichment period each day, entitled "WIN" (What I Need). During this period, students participate in a targeted intervention, Special Education support, ESL support, enrichment, or a performance music ensemble. These music ensembles include Band/Percussion, Chorus and Orchestra. WIN will alternate between A/B days. WIN placements will be made early in the school year, and are subject to change at predictable intervals throughout the school year. On Fridays, students have Flex during WIN, which will start in advisory, and then students will have the opportunity to work with a teacher they need additional support in.

#### **Community Service**

The Watertown Middle School tries to foster in its students a commitment to service for others — the first "S" in our "SOAR" recipe for success. Students are encouraged to complete a suggested number of hours of community service according to grade level. Homeroom advisors will assist students in finding appropriate programs in which to complete the service. In addition, a staff member will serve as the Community Service Coordinator for the school. Outside agencies will request volunteers through the coordinator, who will inform students of these opportunities. In

addition, the coordinator will organize school-based community service opportunities and will advertise these to the students.

The purpose of community service is to assist those in need in the community. Community service is not completing household chores or fulfilling responsibilities within one's immediate family. Students often volunteer in after-school programs, work with younger children through scouts or sports, assist the elderly with shopping, snow removal or yard work, or help at local food pantries, nursing homes or assisted living facilities. The list is endless. A ceremony is held each spring to recognize all students who have completed their recommended hours and submitted signed Community Service Logs, which are included in the agenda book provided at the beginning of the year.

Recommended Community Service hours are:

Grade 6: 10 hours Grade 7: 15 hours Grade 8: 20 hours.

#### Homework

Homework is given to reinforce skills taught in class and to encourage the development of good study habits. Your child can expect daily homework, with approximately 60 focused minutes per night in 6th grade, 70 minutes per night in 7th grade, and 80 minutes per night in 8th grade. If your child is spending more than 2-3 hours on homework and independent reading per night, please contact your child's teacher or guidance counselor for help.

### Why Do We Need Homework?

- Homework provides extra practice on skills learned during class.
- Homework offers more in-depth learning which complements class work.
- Homework establishes good work habits that will make the transition to high school and beyond easier.
- Homework allows parents/caregivers to see what their child is learning and the progress that they are making.

What is for Homework?: Each teacher posts homework on their Google classroom. Every student will also have a paper planner and folder, where they will be expected to write down their homework for each class each day. We encourage caregivers to get students in the habit of looking at their planner for what assignments and assessments are coming up each week.

**If Your Child is Absent:** Be sure your child sees each of her/his teachers when returning from an absence, in order to make up missed work and assignments. A reasonable amount of time will be given for returning students to complete the missed work. Please contact your child's guidance counselor if your child has missed multiple days of school. For planned extended absences, you will need to contact administration before asking teachers for work in advance.

### **Helping Your Child with Homework:**

- Encourage your child to clarify assignments with teachers whenever they are confused.
- Encourage your child to read and reread directions for written homework before starting.

- Remember: Studying is a real homework assignment. Encourage your child to spend time preparing for upcoming quizzes and tests.
- You or another family member should quiz your child on the subject matter to help them prepare for upcoming quizzes and tests.
- Consider having your child attend the Library Learning Lab, especially if they need help becoming more organized or more consistent in completing homework successfully.
- If your child left their assignment(s) at home, please feel free to come to the office and place it in the grade level baskets. To avoid frequent class disruption, we will not call students from classes to pick up late work. Students are allowed to pick up the materials between classes, or during lunch.

### **Effective Home Study Habits**

In an effort to assist students in transitioning to the rigors of middle school academics, the following are recommendations to help with homework assignments:

- Decide with your child on the best time for homework completion.
- Help your child choose a place where they can accomplish homework with no disruptions or distractions.
- Encourage your child to check before leaving school if they have all the books/materials needed to do their assignments.
- Check Google Classroom for individual classes if you or your child has any questions.
- Make sure your child has the phone number of a reliable classmate for the times they are absent or has a question regarding an assignment. Students can also email their teacher or send a message through Google Classroom to their teacher.
- Help your child focus solely on the task at hand. TV, email, and phones distract students and prolong the time needed to accomplish the assignments.
- Make sure your child charges their chromebook overnight. Chromebooks should be restarted at least once a week.
- Make sure your child has everything ready to go in the morning.

### Healthy Technology Tips and Habits for Middle School Students

- Children should be off screens by 9:00PM to ensure good sleeping habits. Please do not let your child keep their cell phone, tablet or computer in their room at night. Instead, make a central spot where all phones and tablets get charged in the evening.
- Parents/caregivers, please make sure you frequently supervise/review all social media and electronic footprint activity, including: TikTok, Twitter, Snapchat, texting, photos, Facebook, Instagram, Discord, or any web site that allows anonymous postings. This is also important when friends are in your home.
- Model healthy habits for your children.
- Make sure your children are not giving out personal information.
- Refer to the student's Online Citizenship contract.

Here are some helpful links:

https://www.commonsensemedia.org/

http://thehealthteacher.com/tech-tips-for-parents/

http://www.cdc.gov/media/subtopic/matte/pdf/cdcelectronicregression.pdf

### TEXTBOOKS, COMPUTERS, and OTHER BORROWED MATERIALS

During the year, students will be given books, a Chromebook, a lock for their locker, and other materials. Additionally, they will be able to check out books and other materials from the library. All items should be well cared for and returned in good condition. Students/caregivers will be held responsible and may be required to reimburse the school for books, computers, and other materials that have been lost or damaged.

### 1:1 Chromebook Program

All students will receive a school-issued Chromebook and a charging cable for use in school and at home. Students are responsible for taking proper care of their devices. This includes:

- Keeping the Chromebook in good working order and physical condition
- Charging the Chromebook at home every night and taking care of the provided charging cable
- Keeping the Chromebook with the student at all times unless it is with a teacher, locked in their locker while at school or secured safely while at home
- Not loaning the Chromebook out to anyone else
- Never using the Chromebook near food and/or drink
- Not exposing the Chromebook to extreme temperatures or placing heavy objects on top
- Immediately reporting any issues with the Chromebook to the principals or library staff

We strongly encourage caregivers to purchase a Chromebook case to protect the computer against accidental damage. If students are held responsible for damage, caregivers may be charged for repairs/replacement, per the contract.

Students and caregivers will need to review and sign the School Device Parent/Guardian Contract for using technology in school. The agreement includes not giving out personal information online, using the devices for educational purposes only, following copyright rules for the distribution and use of software and information, and not participating in the transfer of illegal or inappropriate material online. Unacceptable usage will result in administrative action, including the loss of technology privileges or payment for damaged parts, if determined necessary. If this is the case, students will be given alternative means to access the curriculum.

#### Extra Help

Teachers are available to provide extra help to students when needed. Students should start by asking a teacher to see them during Flex during Friday WIN block, or else check with their teachers to see which days and times they are available. The Library Learning Lab is available for students who need structured help after school Mondays, Tuesdays, and Thursdays.

### **Access to Library**

Students may check out books for a period of three weeks. If a book is not returned or renewed, it is considered overdue. Notices are given out in advisory. Students are required to replace or pay for lost books. The Librarian will inform students of the replacement cost. Alternative payments such as community service will be considered.

The middle school library contains a Maker Space designed for students to develop ideas and create objects that represent their ideas. The maker space includes building materials, computers and software, sound and video equipment, and a number of tools including a 3D printer.

### GUIDANCE AND STUDENT SUPPORT

Each student is assigned to a guidance counselor whose role is to provide overall support. The counselor is available to meet with students individually, as needed, to help with issues and concerns that may arise in the course of the year. The counselors meet regularly with teachers to exchange information and discuss student progress. Counselors are also available to meet with parents/caregivers. If desired, appointments may be made by calling the school and asking to be connected to the counselor's office. Students may make appointments with their counselors by requesting a pass from the teacher. Guidance counselors are a wonderful resource when a student or parent or caregiver needs advice.

For the 2023-2024 school year, the guidance counselors are:

Grade 6	Mr. Thomas Cloherty
Grade 7	Ms. Jody Gladstein
Grade 8	Ms. Amanda Skypeck

#### **Standardized Testing**

Watertown Middle School uses standardized testing to assess the performance of each student compared to the overall performance of students in Watertown, Massachusetts, and the United States. Standardized testing is required by state law, (1993 Education Reform Act) and federal law (Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA)). All students are expected to take the revised Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS). It is an online assessment that combines elements of previous versions of the MCAS and PARCC tests. Students will take the MCAS in English Language Arts and Mathematics in the Spring. Eighth grade students will take the Science & Technology/Engineering MCAS test as well.

Additionally, English Language students take the ACCESS test annually for both written and oral English proficiency. ACCESS (Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State) for EL Learners. It is a summative assessment that assesses social and academic English language development in the domains of Listening, Reading, Writing, and Speaking.

We also utilize nationally recognized and approved assessment tools when needed in other subjects such as i-Ready diagnostic tests for Math and Reading. For all standardized tests,

accommodations are made as required by a student's IEP or 504 Accommodation Plan. Your child's MCAS results from last year will be mailed home in the fall along with explanatory material.

### **Vocational and Private School Applications**

After eighth grade, students and families may be interested in attending a vocational high school, such as Medford Vocational Technical High School. If you are interested in learning more about this process, please contact your student's guidance counselor. You must submit your Chapter 74 Vocational Technical Education Nonresident Tuition application to the vocational technical school by March 15<sup>th</sup> and the application must be received by the Superintendent for W.P.S. approval by April 1<sup>st</sup>. All students residing in Watertown who are registered and attending a vocational technical school shall be entitled to transportation without cost in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws.

Additionally, students and families may be interested in attending a private school. Often, private school applications require recommendations from teachers, counselors, and administrators. School personnel are often happy to write a recommendation on behalf of a student; however, the recommendation season is very busy. Please give staff members at least three weeks notice before a recommendation is due.

#### SPECIALIZED SERVICES & PROGRAMMING

#### Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 ("Section 504") is a federal law designed to protect the rights of individuals with disabilities in programs and activities that receive federal financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Education. Section 504 provides: "No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance." A 504 Accommodation Plan is designed to articulate and implement a program of instructional services, including general classroom modifications, to assist students with significant disabilities.

In order for a student to qualify for a 504 Accommodation Plan they must meet certain federal requirements. They include the following: Referral, Non-discriminatory Evaluation, Eligibility, Placement Procedures, Procedural Safeguards (Due Process), and the writing of the Individual Accommodation Plan. Under Section 504, the school district has the responsibility to identify, evaluate, and if the student is determined to be eligible under Section 504, to afford access to appropriate educational services.

All qualified persons with disabilities within the jurisdiction of a school district are entitled to a free appropriate public education. The ED Section 504 regulation defines a person with a

disability as "any person who: (i) has a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more major life activities, (ii) has a record of such an impairment, or (iii) is regarded as having such an impairment." <sup>3</sup>

A *physical or mental impairment* is defined as any physiological disorder or condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical loss affecting one or more of the following body systems: neurological; musculoskeletal; special sense organs; respiratory, including speech organs; cardiovascular; reproductive; digestive; genito-urinary; hemic and lymphatic; skin; and endocrine; or any mental or psychological disorder, such as mental retardation, organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental illness, and specific learning disabilities. This list is not exhaustive.

<u>Major life activities</u> include functions such as caring for one's self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breathing, learning, and working. This list is not exhaustive. In the ADA Amendments Act 2008 Congress provided additional examples of general activities that are major life activities, including eating, sleeping, standing, lifting, bending, reading, concentrating, thinking, and communicating. Congress also provided a non-exhaustive list of examples of "major bodily functions" that are major life activities, such as the functions of the immune system, normal cell growth, digestive, bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, and reproductive functions. An impairment that is episodic or in remission, is also considered a disability if it would substantially limit a major life activity when active.

If the parent/caregiver has any questions concerning the implementation of policy and procedures may be directed to your child's guidance counselor or the Special Education Evaluation Team Chair.

#### **Special Education Services**

The Watertown Public Schools provides special education and related services for eligible students in accordance with state and federal law. Chapter 766, the Massachusetts Special Education Law, is designed to define the needs of children requiring special education in a broad and flexible manner, to minimize the possibility of stigmatization, and to maximize the child's development in the least restrictive environment. If a student has one or more of the disabilities specified in the statute and, of, as a result of the disability(ies) is unable to progress effectively in the general education program without the provision of one or more related services, then the IEP Team shall determine that the student is eligible and develop an individualized education program (IEP).

Students who are found, after evaluation, to be eligible for special education services will receive an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) developed by the Special Education Team, which includes parents/caregivers, teachers, and specialists involved with the child.

If the parent/caregiver has any questions concerning special education services please contact the Principal, Special Education Evaluation Team Chair, or guidance counselor to assist you with the process.

State regulations governing this process and the <u>"Notice of Procedural Safeguards"</u> brochure are available in all schools for review.

For more information about special education please feel free to contact the Director of Student Services at Central Office.

#### Inclusion/Academic Resource Classes

Those students who have been identified within their IEP as needing additional academic support will meet with a special education teacher and possibly additional support staff such as a speech/language therapist. There they will receive specialized instruction to support the regular education instruction given to them in inclusion classes. The programming within these classes is regulated and prescribed by the IEP team to meet the individual needs of the student.

### **Language-Based Instruction**

We can provide language-based instruction and services to those students who have been identified as having a language-based learning disability or whose IEP specifies alternative instruction. In English and math, students sometimes will be in small structured classes that deliver modified instruction using a variety of teaching strategies designed to meet the student where they are and create successful academic experiences.

### **Learning Support Classroom (LSP)**

The Learning Support classroom is designated for those students who have been identified through the IEP process as needing a small, highly structured, and individualized learning environment. With a special education teacher and instructional assistants, students will receive specialized instruction prescribed by the IEP team to meet the educational needs of the student. The curriculum content and pace is individualized so that the student will have access to the curriculum in the most appropriate setting. Instruction in content areas such as Math, History, Science, and English will be modified to meet the student's needs. Other services may be delivered within these classes as determined by the IEP team.

### **Integrated Services Program (ISP)**

As students and families navigate middle school life and adolescent development, emotional challenges may arise preventing students from meeting academic expectations. In addition, our Watertown families may also be going through turbulence on occasion, affecting the stability of their child's academic success. We recognize the need to provide a range of supportive services to help struggling students recapture academic engagement and motivation for learning. As students develop skills, opportunities for inclusion in general education classes are available. In response, we have developed the Watertown Middle School Integrated Services Program. Here students can receive a spectrum of services depending on their needs. Services may include:

- Small therapeutic class instruction
- Counseling services
- Classroom integration consultation
- Behavior support plan

OR

- Evaluation services
- Short-term respite programming/emergency consultation services

### **Connections Program**

The Connections Program is a structured, behavior-based, self-contained/sub-separate program. Using Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) and sensory integration strategies, students are taught independent living skills, social pragmatic skills, and academic skills. Students may also receive related services through counseling, speech and language, occupational therapy, and/or physical therapy.

Students' programs are individually designed around each student's needs. As students develop skills, opportunities for inclusion in general education classes are available.

### **Alternative Education: Home and Hospital Instruction**

The Watertown Public Schools provides home and hospital tutoring to students who "in the judgment of their physician, should remain at home or in the hospital on a day or overnight basis, or any combination of both, for a period of at least fourteen school days in any school year." Before a student can receive these services, a licensed physician must complete a state-required form for review and approval by the District. Forms are available at your child's school or through the Office of Student Services.

Students who have chronic illnesses or diseases may be eligible for Section 504 Plans, and in those instances, the 14-day requirement will be waived. With the exception of those students who have chronic, debilitating diseases or conditions, home or hospital tutoring is considered short-term (no longer than 60 days) and is not a replacement for regular attendance at school. Home and hospital instruction is not considered a special education service.

#### **English Learners**

At Watertown Middle School we provide suitable research-based language instructional programs for all identified English Learners in grades Kindergarten through 12 in accordance with the requirements of state and federal statutes and Massachusetts Department of Education regulations and guidance.

The Watertown Public Schools district provides English Learners with sheltered English immersion instruction. They receive direct English instruction in English language development classes, as well as English support in their content classes, unless a waiver has been granted in accordance with M.G.L. c. 71A, § 5, in which case the English Learner will be placed in a bilingual education program.

The largest EL groups at Watertown Middle School are students with the Native Languages of: Portuguese, Spanish, Armenian/Haieran, Pushto/Eastern Pashto, and Arabic.

#### ATTENDANCE PROCEDURES

Attendance is the most important aspect of educating our students. When students are not here, they do not have access to instruction. To focus attention on the importance of attendance the federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), which reauthorizes the Elementary and Secondary Education Act or No Child Left Behind, specifically mentions attendance, reflecting the increasing awareness that attendance is a key indicator for assessing school and student success.

Massachusetts state law (M.G.L 76 Sections 2 and 4: School Attendance) requires parents/caregivers to have their children attend school.

At Watertown Public Schools, we pride ourselves in maintaining a very high attendance rate throughout the year. Understandably, there will be times when our students will need to take time away from school for a variety of excused reasons. The following procedure is in place to ensure good attendance, support our families, and follow state and federal laws.

#### **Tardiness**

A student is considered tardy if they are not in Advisory 7:45AM. Students who are tardy must report to the office window to sign in and get a pass before going to class or homeroom. Students arriving at school after 10:15AM are considered "absent by tardy," as they have missed a significant amount of the school day, and will be marked absent for the day.

Students who establish a pattern of being late to school will meet with their guidance counselor to problem solve and work with parents/caregivers to identify an appropriate intervention plan. If a student's cumulative tardiness exceeds an entire class period and impacts their learning outcomes, they may be assigned an after or before school session to make up missing academic work.

#### **Absences**

#### **EXCUSED Absences**

We expect regular and punctual attendance in all classes. We recognize that occasional absences are unavoidable. EXCUSED absences are those reported to the office for one of the following reasons; otherwise, any absence will be considered **unexcused**.

- Short-term illness (three consecutive days or fewer) reported to the school using the attendance google form
- Extended illness (four or more consecutive days) requires a doctor's note with a return date, submitted to the school nurse
- Death of a student's family member
- Court appearances
- Religious observances and holidays
- The Principal may decide to excuse an absence that does not fit within the above categories. The parent/guardian must contact the principal to discuss these circumstances.

Parent call-ins and/or notes from home are required for an excused absence (WMS Main Office 617-926-7783). All notes to excuse an absence need to be turned in within two school days of a student's return to school. Any questions/concerns should be addressed to the Main Office.

Students with more than three excused absences in a quarter may be asked to produce formal documentation to excuse further absences that quarter.

Students who are absent for any reason may not participate in any extra-curricular school activities, Extended Day, or events on the day of the absence, including games and dances, unless excused by the administration.

#### **UNEXCUSED** absences:

- Cutting class (not being where you are scheduled to be)
- Family vacation
- Work
- Any absence of four or more consecutive days that are not documented by a doctor's note

### **Excessive absence notification and intervention**

- After 3 days of **unexcused** absences with no contact with the school from the parent, the Assistant Principal will be notified and will reach out to the parent/guardian.
- After 5 days of **unexcused** absences a letter of concern will be sent to parents/caregivers.
- At 10 absences (**EXCUSED OR UNEXCUSED**) or suspected truancy, a letter and support meeting will be scheduled with parents/guardian, guidance, and administration to create an Attendance Plan, which clearly outlines the school, parent and student obligations to improve the problem.
- At 15 absences (**EXCUSED OR UNEXCUSED**) guidance, administration, community outreach coordinator, and Child Requiring Assistance (CRA) warning
- At 20 absences (**EXCUSED OR UNEXCUSED**) If absenteeism continues, further action will be taken, up to and including petitioning the Juvenile Courts with a Child Requiring Assistance (CRA)

For additional information regarding school absences, please refer to School Committee Policy JH Policy Manual.

#### **Dismissal**

Please excuse our formality and strict guidelines regarding dismissal. It is solely intended to protect your children and the privacy of your family. If you would like your child to be excused from school, please provide your child with a note including the reason, date, time of dismissal and parent or caregiver signature. Students will be dismissed to the office when presenting the note to their teacher. Students dismissed prior to 10:15AM will be considered, "absent by dismissal," and marked absent for the day, unless they return to school.

- All students will be dismissed from the main office.
- Unless approved by administration, no child will be dismissed to people not on the official contact list.
- All people picking up children **must** show legal identification and sign-out before leaving.
- Students will not be dismissed unless accompanied by an adult.
- At the beginning of the school year, parents and caregivers will receive a student

information form that they need to fill out. Please fill out the emergency contact list carefully. Unless approved by administration, no child will be dismissed to people not on the official contact list. This includes times when we may have to dismiss students in an emergency.

• No child will be dismissed to any non-school contracted driver, i.e. Uber, Lyft, a taxi.

### **Snow Days and Delayed Openings**

State law requires 180 days of instruction, and also requires that any snow days be made up before June 30<sup>th</sup>. Snow days and delayed openings are listed on the website <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">www.watertown.k12.ma.us</a>, and also broadcast on the following radio and television stations:

WCVB Television (Channel 5)

WHDH Television (Channel 7)

WBZ Television (Channel 4) and Radio (AM 1030)

Cable Television Service - If available, check the local community channel.

WBUR web site - part of National Public Broadcasting (Radio - FM 90.9).

All parents/caregivers and students are urged to depend on the above communication services. PLEASE DO NOT CALL the School, School Department, Police Department, or Fire Department for school cancellation information, as these lines must remain open for emergency situations

On days of delayed opening, school will open up to two hours after the regularly scheduled time. All students should report to homeroom for attendance and announcements. Lunch will be served at the regular time, and school will close at the regular time.

### **Professional Development Days**

The Watertown Middle School has certain times set aside for teacher professional development and curriculum planning. With the continuous changes to improve curricula, it is important for teachers to have dedicated time set aside to learn the new topics they are required to teach. These days are shown on the school calendar.

Half Days: Students are dismissed at 11:45 am.

**Full Days:** There is no school on these days. Usually there are three full professional days per year.

### **Field Trips**

Students are invited on field trips throughout the year. In order to participate on a field trip, students are expected to demonstrate appropriate behavior and citizenship during school and at school-sponsored events. Students not meeting these expectations may be excluded at the discretion of the Principal or his/her designee. The school will provide an alternate learning experience at school on the day of the field trip.

Fees may be charged for participation in field trips. Should a field trip fee pose a financial challenge to the family, parents/caregivers are encouraged to connect with building administration.

All field trips will be staffed by school personnel and by invited parent chaperones who have satisfied school volunteer requirements, including CORI and fingerprint-based CHRI checks as appropriate. Classroom teachers will notify those parents/caregivers who will be accompanying the trip as chaperones. For safety reasons, as well as space needs on some trips, we will not be able to accommodate additional adults on field trips.

#### BEHAVIOR PROCEDURES

### Watertown Middle School Recipe for Success

**SOAR** like a Watertown Middle School Eagle!

Service: SERVE your school, community, and country! Ownership: Take responsibility and OWN your actions!

Achievement: Set challenging goals and strive to ACHIEVE them!

Respect: RESPECT yourself and the differences in our school community!

Until you spread your wings, you have no idea how far you can fly!

### **Code of Conduct**

At Watertown Middle School, we respect the need for a balanced approach towards discipline and character development. It is critical that students are both celebrated when following our high standards and also given natural consequences when they make mistakes. In addition, we appreciate that in order for our students to be successful, they need to feel safe to take risks. At Watertown Middle School, creating a safe and nurturing environment to accomplish this is our top priority. The SOAR tenets listed above are the pillars of the Watertown Middle School community.

The following sections describe our policies and protocols around student conduct.

#### **Prevention**

Here at Watertown Middle School, we pride ourselves in creating a secure and caring learning community that fosters success. Providing opportunities for students to create meaningful and supportive relationships with their teachers is an essential part of establishing a safe environment that prevents students from making poor choices. We offer a wide spectrum of services that support these endeavors. The following is a partial list of some of the supportive programming that takes place here as a Tier I support for all students:

- Guidance
- Counseling Services
- Advisory Program

#### **Restorative Justice**

Restorative justice is a practice that empowers students to repair relationships by resolving conflict with those affected. Whether that is with peers or teachers, with restorative justice, the question shifts from what rule has been broken and what will the punishment be, to who did you hurt and how are you going to make it better? Some restorative justice practices include adult guided mediation and community service to restore relationships and make reparations. These practices create more action, meaning and context when students make mistakes, which as a result, will have a greater impact

on personal growth. We attempt to use these techniques whenever we feel it is appropriate.

### **Celebrating Success**

In order for students to recognize their achievement and good behavior, it is critical that we celebrate those moments when students are successful.

#### **Behavior Interventions**

During class time, staff practice a variety of intervention strategies before students are referred out of the class. The following are some of the strategies teachers may use to redirect students within the class if they are disrupting the success of others:

- Non-verbal redirection
- Verbal redirection
- Providing options/choices
- Logical consequences
- Formal warning
- Alternative seating
- Time-out
- Mediation
- Collaborative Problem-solving
- Guidance interventions
- Counseling interventions
  - o Guidance Counselors, Behavioral Health Staff, and Administrators can request a quiet, alternative, temporary, academic space for identified students or as part of a student's re-entry or behavior plan.

For additional information regarding student conduct, student conduct on school buses, gang activity/secret societies, prohibition of hazing, hazing, drug/alcohol use by students, and possession of illegal weapons, please refer to School Committee Policies JIC, JICF, JICFA, JICFA-E, JICH, and JICI, respectively which can be found at <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">www.watertown.k12.ma.us</a>. <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">Policy Manual</a>

### **Bullying Prevention and Response**

The Watertown School Committee policy and procedures are compliant with MGL c 71, Section 370, An Act Relative to Bullying in Schools, which was enacted May 3, 2010.

### **Definition and Prohibition of Bullying**

**Definition of Bullying**: Bullying is defined as "the repeated use by one or more students, or by a member of a school staff, of a written, verbal or electronic expression or a physical act or gesture or any combination thereof, directed at a victim that: (i) causes physical or emotional harm to the victim or damage to the victim's property; (ii) places the victim in reasonable fear of harm to oneself or of damage to one's property; (iii) creates a hostile environment at school for the victim; (iv) infringes on the rights of the victim at school; or (v) materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school. For the purposes of this section, bullying shall include cyber-bullying."

**Definition of Cyber-bullying**: Cyber-bullying is defined as "bullying through the use of technology or any electronic communication, which shall include, but shall not be limited to, any transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a wire, radio, electromagnetic, photo electronic or photo optical system, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, internet communications, instant messages or facsimile communications. Cyber-bullying shall also include (i) the creation of a web page or blog in which the creator assumes the identity of another person or (ii) the knowing impersonation of another person as the author of posted content or messages, if the creation or impersonation creates any of the conditions enumerated in clauses (i) to (v), inclusive, of the definition of bullying. Cyber-bullying shall also include the distribution by electronic means of a communication to more than one person or the posting of material on an electronic medium that may be accessed by one or more persons, if the distribution or posting creates any of the conditions enumerated in clauses (i) to (v), inclusive, of the definition of bullying."

Bullying shall be prohibited: (i) on school grounds, property immediately adjacent to school grounds, at a school-sponsored or school-related activity, function or program whether on or off school grounds, at a school bus stop, on a school bus or other vehicle owned, leased or used by a school district or school, or through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased or used by a school district or school and (ii) at a location, activity, function or program that is not school-related, or through the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased or used by a school district or school, if the bullying creates a hostile environment at school for the victim, infringes on the rights of the victim at school or materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school. Nothing contained herein shall require schools to staff any non-school related activities, functions, or programs.

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or witnesses or has reliable information about bullying shall be prohibited. Students who wish to report bullying or other activities that concern them to school administrators and School Police may do so using the Bullying Prevention and Intervention Incident Reporting Form which may be found at <a href="https://www.watertown.k12.ma.us">www.watertown.k12.ma.us</a>. Making false allegations, providing discriminatory statements, and making defamatory statements is prohibited and engaging in such activity will be reported to the appropriate authorities.

### The law specifically prohibits retaliation for reporting an incident of bullying.

**Procedures for reporting and investigation:** Teachers and staff are now **required** by law to report incidences of bullying to the principal in their building. The principal will establish a procedure, which will include the following steps:

- Notify school personnel or administration
- Caregivers of aggressor and target are notified of investigation
- Investigation conducted by administration
- Determination is created whether it is an act of bullying
- Caregivers of target and aggressor are notified of conclusion and next steps
- Intervention(s) are conducted

Once a report is submitted, school administrators will respond quickly and begin an investigation. Steps include determining whether the incident is an act of bullying, notifying parents and caregivers of all students involved, developing safety plans for targets and aggressors, taking steps to prevent any further acts of bullying and/or retaliation, and administering consequences and other necessary interventions depending on the exact nature of the situation. It is important that our children and staff work to create a school where all children are respected, cared for and encouraged, and capable of achieving their fullest potential.

**Safety Intervention Plan:** A Safety Intervention Plan will be developed to help both the target and aggressor. These will be individualized to the students with the goal of preventing further bullying.

**Communication with parents/caregivers:** Educational programs will be offered to parents/caregivers about MGL c. 71, Section 370, "An Act Relative to Bullying in Schools" during the school year. Information on these programs will be posted on the district's website and in school newsletters.

**Bullying Prevention Curriculum and Programming**: At WMS we use the Advisory model as a means of prevention and character development. Within small Advisory groups, students meet with an advisor a couple times a week to connect, build character, and learn resilience and communication skills. We believe that students must have at least one trusted adult they can go to and have a group that is connected to one another to prevent bullying and be successful in school.

**Professional Development:** All schools, under the direction of the principal and the guidance department, provide ongoing professional development and training to the staff throughout the school year. Additionally, faculty meetings and other professional time will be devoted to ensure that our schools are bully free zones and that they optimize learning in a safe and caring environment.

The complete text of the Watertown Bullying Prevention and Intervention plan may be found on the District's website at www.watertown.k12.ma.us.

#### **Substance Abuse**

Watertown Middle School prohibits the use of any illegal substances by students or adults in the school community. Strict disciplinary measures will occur if a student is found to be in possession of an illegal or controlled substance, or is intoxicated by a controlled substance, or distributes an illegal substance to others. In all cases, the Watertown Police will be notified.

Additionally, the school will work collaboratively with the student's parents/caregivers to point the student toward appropriate therapeutic services that will help the child with their substance abuse issue

Please refer to WPS Handbook Part II in this Handbook for further information on the procedure governing suspension and expulsion of students who are found to violate the District's policy governing possession, sale, transfer, and/or use of alcohol or illegal

substances in school or at school-sponsored activities, including athletic and social events that occur outside the school day.

**Smoking, Drugs and Alcohol on School Premises:** Use of any tobacco products, including vapor-E cigarettes, marijuana, or any controlled substance within the school buildings, school facilities, or on school grounds or school buses by any individual, including school personnel and students, is prohibited at all times.

A student determined to be in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action pursuant to the student discipline code.

For additional information on the District's drug/alcohol use by students and smoking in school premises, please see School Committee policies JICH and ADC, respectively Policy Manual.

### **Consequences for Disciplinary Infractions**

**Cluster Sessions:** A cluster session is an after-school detention that may occur when a student has broken a rule within the cluster, and the teacher feels it necessary for the student to stay after. Parents/caregivers will always be contacted to schedule this time.

**Lunch Sessions:** Teachers may issue lunch sessions to students for minor infractions. This time will be served during lunch and is also an opportunity for students to reflect on their mistake. After three lunch sessions for the same kind of infraction, students will be referred to the Assistant Principal.

Administrative Before and/or After-School Sessions: We hold after-school sessions/detention for those students who are required to attend by an administrator. This is a supervised 50-minute period of time where students should take the opportunity to reflect, complete academic work and assigned community service. Parents/caregivers will always be notified when a student has been given an after-school session. If a student receives numerous after-school sessions, further disciplinary action may result.

**Academic Probation:** When a student has shown consistent loss in motivation (grades dropping), has regular behavioral issues interfering with success, or has not passed summer school, the team may place the student on academic probation, which includes contracting with the student and family about interventions necessary to further support the student. Students on academic probation may:

- have a mandatory after-school schedule to meet with teachers
- be taken off athletic teams until they meet the school's athletic requirements
- have additional study hours during and after school

**Loss of Privileges:** Administration may also keep students from attending other school related functions as a means of intervention and consequence. Some of these may include field trips, assemblies, athletics and school dances.

### **Denial of Transportation**

The Watertown Middle School considers the school bus to be an *extension of the classroom*. We have the same standards of behavior on the school bus as we do in school. For example, students should remain in their seats; they should not hang out of windows, harass, push, or fight with other students, throw things, or try to distract the driver.

Students who violate the Code of Conduct while on the bus may be disciplined and may be denied transportation. Some school buses are equipped with video cameras. The video may be used as evidence in disciplining students who misbehave on the bus.

For additional information regarding student conduct on school buses, please refer to the School Committee Policy JICC <u>Policy Manual</u>.

#### **Student ID**

All students and faculty are expected to wear their ID while in the school building. This is a safety measure that will help us ensure that only WMS students and faculty are in the building. If a student has lost their ID, they should go to the main office to request a replacement ID and to pick up a supplementary ID in the meantime.

#### **Hall Passes**

Students are only permitted in the halls during class periods when accompanied by a staff member or if they are carrying a pass issued by a faculty member. Students must sign out from teacher supervision. Students who violate this expectation repeatedly will be referred to the Assistant Principal.

#### Lockers

Each student is assigned a locker and a lock at the beginning of the school year. They are responsible for keeping the locker in good condition. The school is not responsible for articles lost or stolen. Students should not give out their locker combinations. Lockers are the property of Watertown Public Schools and are provided as a privilege for convenience only. The locker, in its entirety, including the space within the locker, shall be the property of the school. Students are cautioned that they may use the locker subject to the right of the school to open the locker at any time for inspection, and there should be no expectation of privacy in the student locker.

Advisory teachers will issue lockers to students. Each student will be loaned a locker for his/her personal use. Students are to use only the locker to which they have been assigned. **Students are to keep lockers secured at all times to protect their property.** The school reserves the right to check lockers as determined by the Administration. If you cannot open or secure your locker, report this difficulty to the first floor administrative office. Locker privileges may be revoked if students abuse the locker or have more than one person using a locker. In addition, students may face disciplinary action if they do not lock their locker. If students lose their lock, they will be responsible for its cost at the end of the school year. Phys. Ed. lockers are not to be considered

"secure" storage. Students should not keep valuable items in these lockers.

### Watertown Middle School is not responsible for lost or stolen items.

#### **Personal Electronic Devices and Cell Phones**

To better protect students from misuse of handheld devices the following guidelines have been established:

In the school building, personal electronic devices (PED) and cell phones should be off and in your lockerPEDs or cell phones may be used during school hours under the supervision of a teacher only. Students are permitted to use their phones upon dismissal at the end of the day. Some other examples of PEDs include earbuds, tablets, smart watches and laptops.

Any use of these PEDs or cell phone outside of teacher supervision is strictly **prohibited**. Faculty or staff has the right to confiscate a PED or cell phone and turn it into the principal's office. The device can be picked up at the office by the student at the end of the school day. On a second offense, the caregiver is required to pick up the device and on a third offense, the student is required to drop it off daily at the office for one week. Repeated offenses may require the parent to pick up the device and/or require the student to drop it off daily at the office.

Urgent messages between parents/caregivers and students must be communicated via the main office.

The school is not responsible for the maintenance, loss, theft or damage of any personal electronic device.

Students should have no expectation of privacy in school-issued or school-owned computers. Similarly, students should have no expectation of privacy when using school email and networks, whether on or off school grounds. The district/school uses web/content security software to monitor all student online activity.

All use of personal electronic devices is commensurate with the District's Acceptable Use Policy.

### Bicycles, Skateboards, Scooters, etc.

Racks are available outside the building to secure bicycles. Skateboards and scooters may not be used on school grounds and must be secured inside the locker. **We strongly encourage students to lock their bicycles.** 

#### Cafeteria

In order to maintain a safe and enjoyable environment for everyone, students are expected to follow the rules posted in the cafeteria. They are expected to:

- Use a moderate tone of voice, no yelling or loud noise;
- Refrain from running, pushing, or cutting in the lunch line;

- Refrain from throwing food or containers;
- Clean up after themselves;
- Stop talking immediately when asked, or when lights are turned off;
- Remain at their table unless buying lunch or snacks, throwing out trash, or using the restroom
- Ask a staff member for permission to leave with a pass.

Disciplinary action will occur for students not following expectations.

### **Conduct on Buses, Field Trips, and Events**

Your child represents the Watertown Middle School during school-related activities outside the school building, whether on the school bus, a field trip, or attending a school sporting event as a participant or spectator. Misbehavior on a bus may result in suspension from the bus, suspension from field trip activities, and/or any other disciplinary actions.

### **Nonviolent Physical Crisis Intervention / Physical Restraint**

All schools and programs within the Watertown Public Schools strive to maintain safe learning environments for all students and staff. As part of a comprehensive approach to safety, all schools have a physical restraint policy in place with procedures, which follow the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education Regulations (766 Reg. 603 CMR 46.00 et esq.). If a student's behavior poses a threat of imminent harm, they may be restrained until calm in accordance with these regulations. Qualified, trained staff carry out specific procedures and parents/caregivers are notified. For further information, contact your child's school.

#### **Student Dress Code**

Students' clothing/dress should reflect their readiness to focus on learning, education and hard work. Safety and appropriateness are two characteristics that highlight the standard of dress that is encouraged at WMS.

Students are expected to adhere to the following guidelines while in school, or while attending a school-sponsored event or field trip:

- Students must wear clothing including both a shirt with pants or skirt, or the equivalent (for example dresses, leggings, or shorts) and shoes.
- Shirts and dresses must have fabric in the front and on the sides (under the arms).
- Clothing must cover undergarments (waistbands and straps excluded).
- Fabric covering the chest, genitals and buttocks must be opaque.
- Hats and other headwear must allow the face to be visible to staff, and not interfere with the line of sight of any student or staff. Hoodies must allow the face and ears to be visible to school staff.
- Clothing must be suitable for all scheduled classroom activities including physical education, science labs, wood shop, and other activities where unique hazards exist.
- Specialized courses may require specialized attire, such as sports uniforms or safety gear.

• Inappropriate attire such as items with profanity, or that promote drugs, alcohol, violence, intolerance, or are sexually explicit will not be permitted.

Administration (working as a team with guidance counselors and the nurse) reserves the right to evaluate the appropriateness of student dress when needed.

The dress code will be evaluated on an annual basis to adjust for cultural trends.

### HEALTH PROCEDURES

#### **School Health Services**

The school nurse is a vital part of the school community and is available during school hours to provide care to students and staff as needed. Student health services are designed to protect and support all students in the maintenance of good health and to enable each student to reach and maintain the highest possible state of well-being for effective learning. The telephone number to the nurse's office is 617-926-7787. The school nurse maintains all student health records in accordance with Massachusetts state laws. These laws require the following:

- 1. All students must have a physical exam by a primary care provider including evidence of the Massachusetts required immunizations before entering kindergarten, 4<sup>th</sup> grade, 7th grade and 10<sup>th</sup> grade: Also new students must have a physical. These physicals must be within a year of entering the grade or school. Your nurse will inform you of immunization requirements.
- 2. Up-to-date health records including immunizations must be presented for anyone registering as a new student.
- 3. A current physical exam, within 13 months of the start of the season is required of all students participating in team sports.

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, students must be properly immunized before entering school to protect the school community from disease. If parents/caregivers do not submit up-to-date immunization records, students will not be permitted to attend school unless there is a medical or religious exemption form on file annually.

Postural screenings for all grades, as well as hearing, vision, SBIRT (Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment) for 7th graders will be administered during the school year with recommendations to parents/caregivers for follow-up when necessary. Parents/caregivers have the opportunity to Opt Out of screenings with written correspondence to the school nurse.

### **Illness or Injury**

Students may request or be sent to see the nurse with a pass issued by a staff member. The nurse will make the determination about what treatment, if any, is needed. Parents/caregivers are

notified when necessary. Students should not call their parent/caregiver and request to be dismissed without first seeing the nurse.

For your child's protection, it is essential for the school to maintain accurate emergency contact information. Please notify the office immediately when emergency contact information has changed.

In case of illness or injury, a student will be dismissed to a parent or caregiver, or to a responsible adult designated by the parent or caregiver.

For information regarding procedures for emergency illness or injury at school, please refer to the School Committee Policy JLC <u>Policy Manual</u>.

#### **Medications**

Written authorization from the primary care physician is required for all medications given out during the school day. Medications must be brought to the school by the parent or caregiver in the original container with the label intact. The parent or legal caregiver must give written permission in order for the nurse to give medication to a student. Parents/caregivers are asked to call and make an appointment to meet with the school nurse to discuss any medication issues or medical concerns.

### **Emergency Illness or Injury protocol**

In case of an accident or illness during school hours, a parent or caregiver will be notified. When indicated, the student will be dismissed to the parents/caregivers or another adult designated by the parent. The school is responsible for providing appropriate care to the student until the parent arrives.

If emergency medical attention is needed, the school will contact you and an emergency response team.

If your child is ill or injured and must be excused from Physical Education, a doctor's note is required. Another doctor's note is needed to return to Physical Education.

#### **Watertown Concussion Procedures**

Watertown Concussion Procedures have been developed in accordance with Watertown Policy and Massachusetts Department of Public Health (MDPH) regulation 105 CMR 201.000 Head Injuries and Concussions in Extracurricular Athletic Activities, mandated by Chapter 166 of the Acts of 2010, An Act Relative to the Safety Regulations for School Athletes.

The complete Procedures can be found on the Watertown High School Athletics Website.

### These procedures provide:

- 1) Parameters for staff training
- 2) Forms to be used at various stages in the head injury and concussion process
- 3) Steps to be taken if an injury occurs at a sports event
- 4) Steps to be taken to ensure a safe and healthy re-entry into school.

### At the beginning of each sports season, students must turn in:

- 1) Proof of a physical examination by a medical doctor in the last 13 months
- 2) A completed Pre-Participation Form
- 3) Athletics Fee
- 4) Please refer to the WHS Athletics website for information on registration through FamilyID.com

# Students will not be allowed to play if these forms are not successfully completed and turned in.

If parents/caregivers or students require more information, they should visit the WHS Athletics site to read the complete text of the Procedures.

### When to Keep Your Child Home

Please keep your child at home if they have:

**Cold with cough and fever:** If your child has a cold and cough symptoms with a fever or they do not seem to be getting better, call your doctor. Your child may not attend school with a fever over 100°. The temperature must be normal for 24 hours without the use of medication before the child may return to school

**Sore throat with fever and swollen glands:** These may be signs of strep throat. Call your doctor to have your child evaluated. Children are still contagious the first 24 hours on antibiotics and must remain home.

**Red eyes:** When the white part of the eye looks red and there is a yellow or green crusty discharge, call your doctor. Your child may have conjunctivitis, a common but troublesome condition that may be a contagious infection. Your child may need an eye ointment, and may attend school after 24 hours of treatment.

**Rash:** A rash is usually a sign of a viral illness. It also may be a reaction to a medication or chemical (plants, detergents). If your child has an unusual rash or it is associated with a fever, contact your doctor. Keep your child home from school until you have discussed the rash with your doctor.

**Stomachache, vomiting, diarrhea:** A child with vomiting and/or diarrhea should be kept home until symptoms have resolved for approximately 24 hours and the child is able to keep down food and liquid. Consult your doctor if fever and stomach pains do not go away or your child is not eating well and appears dehydrated (dry mouth, no tears, sunken eyes, urinates less than 4 times in 24 hours).

**Chicken Pox:** Students must remain out of school for at least 1 week from the appearance of eruptions. All lesions must be scabbed over with no new eruptions, to return to school.

Since school health rooms are not equipped to accommodate sick children, and since crowded health rooms lead to further spread of disease, it is imperative that sick children be kept at home. It is also crucial that parents/caregivers make every effort to pick up children as soon as possible when notified by the school of a child's illness.

### **COMMUNICATION GUIDELINES**

The communication guidelines delineated below are designed to provide an efficient and effective process for parents/caregivers to access information about all aspects of their child's school experience. We define a "chain of communication" because we feel that the most effective way to obtain accurate responses to inquiries or lasting solutions to concerns is at the level closest to the issue or concern.

The following chart identifies the individual who should be contacted initially, depending upon the nature of the question or concern. The <u>Staff Directory</u> on the school website lists positions and contact information. If parents/caregivers remain uncertain about where to make a call or who to contact, they should feel free to contact the main office at 617-926-7783, and they will be referred to the appropriate person. We understand that there are times when a parent feels the need to start with a specific individual. We defer to parents/caregivers' judgment in this matter.

#### Classroom Concerns

Any questions related to classroom issues should be referred to the teacher. Most concerns are resolved when parents/caregivers take this initial step. Teachers are interested in the concerns of parents/caregivers and want to address those concerns in an open and professional manner. Family/teacher conferences make a positive contribution to student achievement.

We strongly encourage parents/caregivers and staff members who have concerns to open up a two-way dialogue, whether it is by phone or a face-to-face meeting. Email is often the quickest way to reach an educator to set up an appointment for two-way dialogue.

Supervisors and administrators are willing to listen to questions and concerns related to classroom issues and will provide procedure-related information, but they may ask the parent/caregiver to contact the teacher if a dialogue has not already begun.

Parents/caregivers who feel that an issue is unresolved after having consulted with the teacher should contact the individual listed in the "referral" column.

#### **Anonymous Calls or Complaints**

There will be no response from the School Department to anonymous calls, letters, or complaints.

#### **Communication Chart**

NATURE OF CONCERN INITIAL CONTACT REFERRAL	
--	--

Academic Progress	Teacher See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Curriculum Coordinator or Principal See Coordinator Directory 617-926-7783
Behavior	Teacher See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Assistant Principal(s) 617-926-7783
Teaching Methods & Curriculum	Teacher See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Curriculum Coordinator or Principal See Coordinator Directory 617-926-7783
Counseling/Student Adjustment	Counselor See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Assistant Principal(s) 617-926-7783
Health / Medication	Nurse (617) 926-7787	Assistant Principal(s) 617-926-7783
School Lunch Program	Director of Food Services 617-926-7756	Principal 617-926-7783
Special Needs Referral	Classroom Teacher or Guidance Counselor See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Evaluation Team Chair 617-926-7783
Special Needs Transportation	Special Education Liaison See <u>Staff Directory</u>	Student Services Office Administrative Assistant 617-926-7766
Transportation	Principal 617-926-7783	Director of Business Services 617-926-7716
School Traffic Guards	Principal 617-926-7783	Watertown Police Department 617-972-6500
Title I Program	Title I Tutor/ Classroom Teacher See Staff Directory	Principal 617-926-7783
District-Wide Policy	Superintendent 617-926-7700	School Committee 617-926-7700
Community Education Programs (Adult Ed, Summer School, Before & After School Programs)	Director of Community Education 617-923-7653	Assistant Superintendent 617-926-7700